Before the Federal Communications Commission Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of)	
Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules To Benefit the Consumers of Air-Ground Telecommunications Services)))	WT Docket No. 03-103
Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Parts 1, 22, and 90 of the Commission's Rules)	
Amendment of Parts 1 and 22 of the Commission's Rules To Adopt Competitive Bidding Rules for Commercial and General Aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service)))	WT Docket No. 05-42
Application of Verizon Airfone Inc. for Renewal of 800 MHz Air-Ground Radiotelephone License, Call Sign KNKG804)))	File No. 0001716212

ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION AND REPORT AND ORDER

Adopted: December 8, 2005 Released: December 9, 2005

By the Commission: Commissioners Copps and Adelstein approving in part, concurring in part, and issuing separate statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

He	eading	Paragraph #
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
Π.	BACKGROUND	3
III.	ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION	5
	A. Ancillary Land Mobile and Fixed Service Prohibition	5
	B. Stratospheric Platforms	8
	C. Verizon Airfone Inc. License, File No. 0001716212	13
	1. Transition Period	14
	2. Transition Status Reports	20
	3. License Term	23
IV.	. REPORT AND ORDER	26
	A. Incorporation by Reference of the Part 1 Standardized Auction Rules	26
	B. Provisions for Designated Entities	
V.	PROCEDURAL MATTERS	44
	A. Congressional Review Act	44
	B. Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis	45
	C. Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995	
	•	

50

D. Contact Information	47
VI. CONCLUSION	48
VII	ORDERING CLAUSES

Appendix A — Commenting Parties

Appendix B — Final Rules

Appendix C — Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis

I. INTRODUCTION

1. In the Order on Reconsideration below, we address the Petition for Clarification and Reconsideration of the Air-Ground Order¹ filed by Space Data Corporation (Space Data).² We deny Space Data's request to permit the provision of ancillary land mobile and fixed service in the 800 MHz air-ground band on a secondary basis.³ We do, however, grant Space Data's request to clarify that stratospheric platforms, such as high-altitude balloons, may be used to provide air-ground services in the band. In addition, we deny the Petition for Partial Reconsideration of the Air-Ground Order filed by AirCell, Inc. (AirCell).⁵ Specifically, we deny AirCell's request to shorten from five to two years the term of the nonrenewable license granted to Verizon Airfone Inc. (Verizon Airfone or Airfone).⁶ We also deny AirCell's request to abbreviate from two years to six months the transition period that the Commission adopted in order for Verizon Airfone to move its incumbent narrowband operations to one megahertz of spectrum in the 800 MHz air-ground band, which period will commence on the grant date of the first new license in the band. Also, in order to help ensure the timely transition of Airfone's incumbent system to one megahertz of the band, we adopt certain reporting requirements as described below. Lastly, in the event that Airfone, or an affiliate of Airfone, wins an exclusive 3 MHz license, it will be subject to certain reporting requirements to enable the Commission to monitor Airfone's migration of its narrowband subscribers to a new broadband system.

¹ Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules to Benefit the Consumers of Air-Ground Telecommunications Services, Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Parts 1, 22, and 90 of the Commission's Rules, *Report and Order and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking*, 20 FCC Rcd 4403 (2005). In this item, we refer to the Report and Order in WT Docket No. 03-103 as the *Air-Ground Order* and to the concurrent Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in WT Docket No. 05-42 as the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*. *See also* Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules to Benefit the Consumers of Air-Ground Telecommunications Services, Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Parts 1, 22, and 90 of the Commission's Rules, *Notice of Proposed Rule Making*, 18 FCC Rcd 8380 (2003).

² See Space Data Petition for Clarification and Reconsideration (filed May 13, 2005) (Space Data Petition). See also Reply of Space Data Corporation to Oppositions to Petition for Clarification and Reconsideration (filed June 29, 2005) (Space Data Reply).

³ See Space Data Petition at 4-8.

⁴ *Id.* at 2-4.

⁵ See AirCell Petition for Partial Reconsideration (filed May 13, 2005) (AirCell Petition). See also Reply of AirCell to Opposition of Verizon Airfone (filed June 27, 2005) (AirCell Reply).

⁶ See AirCell Petition at 8-10; Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4440-4441 ¶¶ 79-82.

⁷ See AirCell Petition at 2-8; Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4438-4439 ¶¶ 75-76.

2. In the *Report and Order* below, we adopt competitive bidding rules for the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service and the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. We will conduct auctions of both commercial and general aviation air-ground licenses in conformity with the general competitive bidding rules set forth in Part 1, Subpart Q, of the Commission's Rules, and substantially consistent with the bidding procedures that have been employed in previous Commission auctions. In addition, we adopt small business definitions and bidding credits for the 800 MHz air-ground service, and we conclude that bidding credits are unnecessary for the 400 MHz air-ground service.

II. BACKGROUND

3. On December 15, 2004, the Commission adopted the *Air-Ground Order*, WT Docket No. 03-103, and the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, WT Docket No. 05-42. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission adopted a flexible regulatory approach to determine the future band configuration of the four megahertz of dedicated spectrum in the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. The Commission sought to promote the provision of new innovative wireless service, including broadband service, to the public onboard aircraft. Based on the band configuration proposals submitted by interested parties in the proceeding, the Commission decided to assign nationwide air-ground licenses under one of three alternative band configurations: (1) Band Plan 1, comprised of two overlapping, shared, crosspolarized 3 MHz licenses (licenses A and B, respectively), Band Plan 2, comprised of an exclusive 3 MHz license and an exclusive 1 MHz license (licenses C and D, respectively), and (3) Band Plan 3, comprised of an exclusive 1 MHz license and an exclusive 3 MHz license (licenses E and F, respectively), with the blocks at opposite ends of the band from the second configuration. Each of these band plans includes at least one 3 MHz license, which the Commission determined would enable a new licensee to provide broadband service to the flying public. Because the three band configurations are

⁸ See 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.2101-1.2113.

⁹ See supra note 1.

¹⁰ The spectrum currently consists of an uplink band at 849-851 MHz and a downlink band at 894-896 MHz. 47 C.F.R. § 22.857.

¹¹ Licenses A and B would authorize transmission of radio waves that are vertically and horizontally polarized, respectively, and would initially share 1.5 MHz at 849.000-850.500 MHz paired with 1.5 MHz at 894.000-895.500 MHz. Once Verizon Airfone's incumbent system ceases operations in the upper 0.5 MHz of each band, licensee B would shift its operations to 1.5 MHz at 849.500-851.000 MHz paired with 1.5 MHz at 894.500-896.000 MHz. If band plan 1 is implemented, the parties may agree to a different implementation scheme.

¹² License C would be located in the lower 1.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz band (1.5 MHz at 849.000-850.500 MHz paired with 1.5 MHz at 894.000-895.500 MHz). License D would be located in the upper 0.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz band (0.5 MHz at 850.500-851.000 MHz paired with 0.5 MHz at 895.500-896.000 MHz).

¹³ License E would be located in the lower 0.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz band (0.5 MHz at 849.000-849.500 MHz paired with 0.5 MHz at 894.000-894.500 MHz). License F would be located in the upper 1.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz band (1.5 MHz at 849.500-851.000 MHz paired with 1.5 MHz at 894.500-896.000 MHz).

¹⁴ In order to promote competition in the 800 MHz air-ground band, the Commission prohibited any party from obtaining a controlling interest, either at auction or by a post-auction transaction, in more than three megahertz of spectrum (either shared or exclusive) in the band. No single party, therefore, may hold more than (continued....)

mutually incompatible with one another, applicants that apply for licenses under different band plans will be considered to have filed mutually exclusive applications. If mutually exclusive applications are filed, the band plan that receives the highest gross aggregate bid in an auction will be implemented, and licenses composing that configuration will be awarded to winning bidders subject to long-form license application review.¹⁵

4. In the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, the Commission requested comment on competitive bidding rules in the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. In addition, the Commission sought comment on auction rules for the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. As discussed in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, auction rules are necessary for the 400 MHz air-ground service to resolve previously filed mutually exclusive applications as well as any mutually exclusive 400 MHz air-ground applications that are filed in the future. ¹⁷

III. ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION

A. Ancillary Land Mobile and Fixed Service Prohibition

5. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission prohibited the provision of ancillary land mobile and fixed services in the 800 MHz air-ground band. The Commission noted the claims of several commenters that ancillary land mobile and fixed use of this spectrum could potentially interfere with operations in adjacent spectrum bands. The Commission determined that, in light of the small amount of spectrum dedicated for commercial air-ground service (only four megahertz), the public interest would be best served by ensuring that the band is devoted to the provision of air-ground service. Space Data requests that we revisit this determination and permit licensees to provide ancillary land mobile and fixed (Continued from previous page)

one license in any of the available band configurations. *See Air-Ground Order*, 20 FCC Rcd at 4424-4427 ¶¶ 39-44.

¹⁵ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4405-06 ¶ 1.

¹⁶ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4464 ¶ 169. See also 47 U.S.C. § 309(j); Balanced Budget Act of 1997, Pub. L. No. 105-33, Title III, 111 Stat. 251 (1997). The Balanced Budget Act of 1997 amended Section 309(j) to require the Commission to resolve mutually exclusive applications for initial licenses or permits using competitive bidding procedures, with very limited exceptions. These exceptions are licenses and construction permits for public safety radio services, digital television service licenses and permits given to existing terrestrial broadcast licensees to replace their analog television service licenses, and licenses and construction permits for noncommercial educational broadcast stations and public broadcast stations under 47 U.S.C. § 397(6). See 47 U.S.C. §§ 309(j)(1) & (2).

¹⁷ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4464 ¶ 169. There are currently pending nine groups of mutually exclusive general aviation applications. Because these are closed filing groups, the auction of the licenses for which these applications have been filed will be limited to the parties in each of the nine groups of applicants that have filed mutually exclusive applications. Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4464 ¶ 169. See also 47 C.F.R. § 22.131. These parties will be required to file short-form applications (FCC Form 175) and submit upfront payments to participate in the auction. Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4464 ¶ 169. See also 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.2105(a) & (b), 1.2106.

¹⁸ Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4431 ¶ 53.

¹⁹ *Id*.

²⁰ *Id*.

service on a secondary basis in the band.²¹ Space Data states that such service would have to accept harmful interference from primary users of the band and could not interfere with air-ground or adjacent band operations.²² CTIA-The Wireless Association (CTIA), Nextel Communications, Inc. (Nextel), and The Boeing Company (Boeing) oppose Space Data's request and urge us to retain the prohibition on ancillary land mobile and fixed use of the 800 MHz air-ground band.²³

- 6. We conclude that Space Data has failed to demonstrate sufficient grounds for revisiting the Commission's proscription on ancillary land mobile and fixed service use of the 800 MHz air-ground band. We agree with CTIA, Boeing, and Nextel that such ancillary use of the air-ground band could create the potential for harmful interference with users of adjacent spectrum bands.²⁴ Space Data claims that because it proposes ancillary use of the band on a secondary basis, the potential for harmful interference can be readily addressed.²⁵ We find that it is unnecessary, however, to resolve the parties' claims regarding the potential for interference arising from ancillary land mobile and fixed operations. Rather, we conclude that the Commission's goal to promote the provision of new and innovative wireless services to the flying public, including broadband services, will be best served by requiring that the four megahertz of spectrum in the band be devoted to the provision of air-ground service.²⁶ Boeing and Nextel agree that the limited amount of spectrum in the band should be devoted to air-ground services.²⁷ Limiting use of this spectrum to air-ground service will, moreover, provide new licensees much needed flexibility to design their systems to provide services to the flying public—without concern about possible interference from ancillary land mobile and fixed operations in the band, even if such operations would be secondary.
- 7. In support of its request, Space Data also argues that the need for wireless service in rural areas could increase following the February 18, 2008 sunset of the requirement that cellular licensees provide analog mobile phone service, and that the air-ground band could be used to serve rural America.²⁸ While we laud Space Data's objective to bring wireless services to rural and underserved areas, there is only four megahertz of spectrum in this band and, as noted above, limiting its use to the provision of air-ground services will promote the deployment of emerging broadband services to the flying public. We continue to rely on the availability of considerably more spectrum in other bands and our policies purposely designed to improve service to rural areas to help meet our goal of fostering service to rural and

²¹ See Space Data Petition at 4-8.

²² See Space Data Reply at 6.

²³ See CTIA Opposition to Space Data Petition for Reconsideration (filed June 16, 2005) (CTIA Opposition); Boeing Opposition to Petition for Reconsideration (filed June 16, 2005) (Boeing Opposition); Nextel Opposition to Petition for Reconsideration (filed June 16, 2005) (Nextel Opposition).

²⁴ CTIA Opposition at 3-5; Boeing Opposition at 3-4; Nextel Opposition at 3-6.

²⁵ Space Data Petition at 7.

²⁶ We also find no basis in the record for CTIA's claim that permitting ancillary use of the band could render the 800 MHz rebanding process moot. *See* CTIA Opposition at 5.

²⁷ See Boeing Opposition at 1; Nextel Opposition at 3.

²⁸ Space Data Petition at 5-7. See 47 C.F.R. § 22.901(b) (analog sunset).

underserved areas.²⁹ We also note that it is premature to address the possibility that other spectrum will be needed to serve rural areas following sunset of the analog cellular requirement.³⁰ In the event that cellular service to rural areas is threatened by this analog sunset, it would be appropriate to address such a concern in the context of our cellular rules rather than in this proceeding.³¹

B. Stratospheric Platforms

- 8. Space Data requests clarification that balloon-borne stratospheric platforms may be used to provide air-ground communications services in the 800 MHz air-ground band.³² Space Data has developed a network comprised of inexpensive weather balloons, which carry miniature radio repeaters (SkySites) to nearly 100,000 feet (approximately two to three times higher than commercial aircraft).³³ The company states that its stratospheric network covers large geographic areas with broad antenna beams that it could use to provide commercial air-ground services.³⁴ Only Nextel opposes Space Data's request, asserting that the Commission has already concluded that stratospheric platforms may not be used to provide service in the 800 MHz air-ground band and claming that the use of such platforms could give rise to potential interference.³⁵ For the reasons stated below, we confirm that stratospheric platforms, as described by Space Data, may be used to provide service in the 800 MHz air-ground band. so long as licensees comply with the rules adopted in the *Air-Ground Order* and other applicable rules.
- 9. At the outset, we reject Nextel's assertion that the Commission has already forbidden the use of stratospheric platforms to provide service in the 800 MHz air-ground band. Nextel cites no statement in the *Air-Ground Order* that would support its contention, nor are we aware of any. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission adopted a technologically neutral, flexible regulatory framework to enable licensees to provide air-ground services using any existing or future technology that could fit within their

²⁹ See, e.g., Facilitating the Provision of Spectrum-Based Services to Rural Areas and Promoting Opportunities for Rural Telephone Companies to Provide Spectrum-Based Services, *Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking*, 19 FCC Rcd 19078 (2004).

³⁰ 47 C.F.R. § 22.901(b).

³¹ We note that the sunset of the analog cellular requirement will not compel any carrier to discontinue the provision of analog service to the public. The Commission, moreover, has directed nationwide cellular carriers to report in 2006 and 2007 any plans to phase out analog service. *See* Year 2000 Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules To Modify or Eliminate Outdated Rules Affecting the Cellular Radiotelephone Service and Other Commercial Mobile Radio Services, *Report and Order*, 17 FCC Rcd 18401, 18419 ¶ 31 (2002), *Order on Reconsideration*, 19 FCC Rcd 3239 (2004). The Commission will use the information contained in these reports to determine whether or not to commence a proceeding regarding possible extension of the analog cellular requirement. *See id.*, 17 FCC Rcd at 18419 ¶ 32.

³² See Space Data Petition at 2-4.

³³ See id. at 3. We note that in 2001 the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau granted Space Data a waiver to operate a balloon-borne stratospheric communications system on narrowband PCS spectrum. See Petition for a Declaratory Ruling, Clarification or, in the Alternative, a Waiver of Certain Narrowband Personal Communications Services (PCS) Rules as they Apply to a High-Altitude Balloon-Based Communications System, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Red 16421 (WTB 2001).

³⁴ See Space Data Petition at 3.

³⁵ See Nextel Opposition at 6-7.

assigned spectrum block.³⁶ The Commission specified that licensees must provide service to airborne locations, but it did not proscribe the use of stratospheric platforms to provide such service. The Commission, in fact, favorably cited in the *Air-Ground Order* numerous filings by Space Data that contemplated the use of stratospheric platforms to provide service.³⁷ The Commission's decision to afford interested parties an opportunity to bid on exclusive spectrum licenses in the band, moreover, was based partly on Space Data's showing that narrowband technology could be used in an exclusive spectrum block to provide air-ground service via stratospheric platforms.³⁸

- 10. We also reject Nextel's claim that Space Data must demonstrate how the use of stratospheric platforms would comport with bilateral agreements between the United States and Canada and Mexico, which provide for the coordinated use of air-ground frequencies over North American airspace.³⁹ In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission specifically noted that these agreements, which are based on a narrow bandwidth channel scheme, may need to be renegotiated to provide for more flexible use of the air-ground band.⁴⁰ These agreements may have to be modified to accommodate the two licenses comprising the band configuration implemented as a result of the Commission's future auction of air-ground licenses,⁴¹ as well as the technology deployed by each licensee. In the event that a future licensee in the band intends to deploy stratospheric platforms, the agreements could be modified—if necessary—to address such use. We caution, however, that to the extent that air-ground service via stratospheric platforms (as well as "traditional" air-ground service via terrestrial infrastructure) would be inconsistent with international agreements, licensees would assume the risk that those agreements might not be modified to accommodate such use.
- 11. Nextel also argues that Space Data must provide the Commission an analysis of potential interference that could arise from balloon-borne station transmissions.⁴² We disagree and note that Nextel did not specify whether it is concerned about the potential for Space Data's airborne transmitters to cause interference to other air-ground services or to terrestrial services in adjacent bands. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission found that the exclusive licensing approach advocated by Space Data could "be deployed without causing harmful interference to adjacent services . . . , provided that the licensees are aware of the potential for such interference and take necessary measures to comply with our rules to

³⁶ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at $4406-4407 \, \P \, 2$.

 $^{^{37}}$ See, e.g., id. at 4429 \P 49 n.178 (citing Space Data November 29 Analysis).

³⁸ See id. at 4424 ¶ 39 n.148 (citing Space Data November 16, 2004 Presentation).

³⁹ See Nextel Opposition at 7. See "Arrangement Between the Department of Communications of Canada and the Federal Communications Commission of the United States of America Concerning the Use of the Bands 849-851 and 894-896 MHz," signed August 18, 1992 (U.S.A.) and August 28, 1992 (Canada), Section 4. See also "Protocol Concerning the Use of the 849-851 and 894-896 MHz Bands for Public Air-To-Ground Radio Service," signed June 16, 1994 by the Government of the United States and the Government of Mexico, Article IV.

⁴⁰ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4431 ¶ 52.

⁴¹ The Commission will make licenses available at auction in three possible band configurations; licenses will be awarded to the two winning bidders for the licenses comprising the configuration that receives the highest aggregate gross bid, subject to long-form license application review.

⁴² See Nextel Opposition at 6-7.

prevent such interference." ⁴³ Nextel has presented no argument that would cause us to revisit that determination.

12. We note that in a July 26, 2005 ex parte written presentation, Nextel states that "if Space Data can somehow comply with the existing ATG rules, then Nextel would not oppose the introduction of a collection of balloon-based platforms into the ATG band for the purpose of providing ATG service."44 We agree with Nextel that any stratospheric platform-based operations in the air-ground band must comply with the rules adopted in the Air-Ground Order as well as other applicable rules. 45 The airground rules provide "licensees flexibility to deploy any type of transmission technology, provided that the radio emissions produced fit within a licensee's assigned spectrum."⁴⁶ This requirement is codified in revised Section 22.861(a), which provides that "[t]he power of any emission outside of the authorized operating frequency ranges must be attenuated below the transmitting power (P) by a factor of at least 43 + 10 log (P) dB."47 The Commission, moreover, reserved the right to require greater attenuation in the event that any emission from a transmitter operating in the service results in interference to users of another radio service. 48 We also grant Space Data's request that we clarify that, if a licensee were to deploy stratospheric platforms in the band, those operations would be subject to the 12 watt peak effective radiated power limit for airborne mobile station transmitters set forth in new Section 22.867(a) of the Commission's rules. 49 Together, these rules should ensure that any stratospheric operations in the band would not cause harmful interference to operations in adjacent spectrum bands.

C. Verizon Airfone Inc. License, File No. 0001716212

13. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission granted Verizon Airfone—the only remaining service provider in the 800 MHz air-ground band⁵⁰—a nonrenewable license to operate in the band for five years.⁵¹ The license requires Airfone to move its narrowband operations from four to one megahertz of spectrum in the band within two years of the initial grant date of a new license in the band.⁵² AirCell

⁴³ See Air-Ground Order. 20 FCC Rcd at 4437 ¶ 70.

⁴⁴ Letter from Trey Hanbury, Senior Counsel, Nextel Communications, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated July 26, 2005.

⁴⁵ See 47 C.F.R. §2.106 note 5.318 (specifying that "use of the band 849-851 MHz is limited to transmission from aeronautical stations and the use of the band 894-896 MHz is limited to transmissions from aircraft stations").

 $^{^{46}}$ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4431 \P 54.

⁴⁷ 47 C.F.R. § 22.861(a).

⁴⁸ 47 C.F.R. § 22.861(d).

⁴⁹ See Space Data Petition at 4; 47 C.F.R. § 22.867(a).

⁵⁰ The former 800 MHz Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service rules contemplated six competing licensees providing voice and low-speed data services. Six entities were originally licensed under those rules. Only three of the six licensees built systems and provided service, and two of those failed for business reasons.

⁵¹ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4440-4441 ¶ 80-81.

⁵² See id. at 4438-4439 ¶¶ 75-76.

requests that we shorten the transition period to six months,⁵³ and reduce the license term to two years.⁵⁴ For the reasons stated below, we deny AirCell's requests.

1. Transition Period

- 14. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission concluded that unencumbered paired 1.5 MHz channels are appropriate to deploy broadband technologies in the 800 MHz air-ground band.⁵⁵ The Commission therefore included at least one 3 MHz license in each of the three alternative band configurations that will be made available at auction. In order to ensure that the air-ground spectrum could be used to provide broadband service in the near future, the Commission determined that Verizon Airfone must transition its incumbent narrowband operations from four to one megahertz of spectrum in the band within two years of the initial grant date of a new license in the band.⁵⁶
- 15. AirCell claims that, based on its experience as an air-ground service provider, ⁵⁷ relocation of Airfone's incumbent operations from four to one megahertz of spectrum could be concluded in six months. ⁵⁸ AirCell bases this assertion on two flawed premises. First, AirCell believes that Airfone's ground stations could be remotely retuned to operate on one megahertz in the band. ⁵⁹ According to

⁵³ See AirCell Petition at 2-8; AirCell Reply at 1-3.

⁵⁴ See AirCell Petition at 8-10.

⁵⁵ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4421-4422 ¶ 31.

⁵⁶ See id. at 4438-4439 ¶ 75. If band plan 1 or 2 is the winning configuration at auction, Airfone's incumbent system must cease operations in the lower 1.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz air-ground band within two years of the initial date of grant of a new license or licenses. Airfone may relocate its incumbent operations to the upper 0.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz band (0.5 MHz at 850.500-851.000 MHz paired with 0.5 MHz at 895.500-896.000 MHz) and may continue to operate under the renewal authorization until the end of the five-year license term. If band plan 3 is the winning configuration at auction, Airfone's incumbent system must cease operations in the upper 1.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz air-ground band within two years of the initial date of grant of a new license; Airfone may relocate to the lower 0.5 MHz portion of each 2 MHz band (0.5 MHz at 849.000-849.500 MHz paired with 0.5 MHz at 894.000-894.500 MHz) and may continue to operate under the renewal authorization until the end of the five-year license term.

to more than 1,400 general aviation aircraft using traditional cellular networks and frequencies. AirCell and its partners have been granted waivers of the Commission's rule, 47 C.F.R. § 22.925, prohibiting the use of cellular phones on airborne planes in order to implement an air-ground service. AirCell's system uses specially designed mobile units and ground equipment to allow users to access the existing networks of AirCell's cellular licensee partners without causing the harmful interference against which Section 22.925 was designed to protect. *See* AirCell, Inc., Petition, Pursuant to Section 7 of the Act, For a Waiver of the Airborne Cellular Rule, Or, in the Alternative, for a Declaratory Ruling, *Order*, 14 FCC Rcd 806 (WTB 1998), recon. granted in part, denied in part, *Order on Reconsideration*, 14 FCC Rcd 18430 (WTB 1999), app. for rev. denied, *Memorandum Opinion and Order*, 15 FCC Rcd 9622 (2000), affirmed in part and remanded in part sub nom., *AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.*, et al., v. FCC, 270 F.3d 959, 968 (D.C. Cir. 2001), pet. for reh'g denied Jan. 29, 2002, *Order on Remand*, 18 FCC Rcd 1926 (2003), pet. for rev. denied sub nom., *AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.*, v. FCC, 365 F.3d 1095 (D.C. Cir. 2004).

⁵⁸ AirCell Petition at 5.

⁵⁹ *Id*.

Airfone, however, the software controlling each of its ground stations must be modified, tested, and deployed on-site, and each location needs to be evaluated for the possible installation of customized emission filters. Second, AirCell assumes that moving Airfone's narrowband operations to one megahertz in the band would not require modification of end user equipment. Airfone's service, however, is installed on over 3,000 general aviation, military, and federal government aircraft that cannot be remotely contacted for reprogramming and therefore would require a maintenance visit. In view of the foregoing, we find that there is no basis in the record to shorten the transition period to six months.

- 16. AirCell also argues that the possibility that it could construct an air-ground system and begin to provide broadband service shortly after obtaining a license in the band warrants reducing the transition period to six months. We find this argument unavailing. Even if AirCell or another new entrant could launch broadband service within a few months of obtaining a license in the band, the transition of Airfone's system to one megahertz in the band may be far more complex than envisioned by AirCell. In establishing the two-year transition period, the Commission carefully balanced the goal in this proceeding of enabling new entrants to deploy innovative wireless services to the flying public in the near future with the need for an orderly transition of Airfone's legacy narrowband system. We find no basis in the record to revisit the reasonableness of the decision reached in the *Air-Ground Order* in weighing these competing public interest objectives.
- 17. We also reject AirCell's assertion that the two-year transition period would somehow act as a "perverse" bidding credit for Airfone by allowing the company to bid on a ten-year license, while other auction participants would be bidding on licenses with an effective eight-year term. Even if Airfone were to obtain a new 3 MHz air-ground license, the company would have to move its incumbent narrowband operations from four to one megahertz of spectrum in the band before it could commence broadband operations. Moreover, if Airfone were to obtain either of the non-exclusive 3 MHz licenses comprising band plan 1, it and the other non-exclusive 3 MHz licensee would both have to wait the same interlude (the period it takes Airfone to move its incumbent operations) to commence service. Accordingly, we deny AirCell's request to reduce the transition period to six months.
 - 18. Finally, we disagree with AirCell that Airfone's transition period should be shortened in light

⁶⁰ Airfone Opposition at 5.

⁶¹ See AirCell Petition at 6.

⁶² See Airfone Opposition at 6.

⁶³ AirCell also has suggested that it may not be possible at all for Airfone to move its incumbent narrowband operations to one megahertz of spectrum in the band. *See* Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, counsel to AirCell, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated July 20, 2005.

⁶⁴ See AirCell Petition at 3.

⁶⁵ See id.

⁶⁶ See supra para. 15.

⁶⁷ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4438-4439 ¶ 75.

⁶⁸ See AirCell Petition at 4.

of the Commission's recent *Big LEO Spectrum Sharing Order*.⁶⁹ In that decision, the Commission added a fixed and mobile, except aeronautical mobile, services allocation to the 2495-2500 MHz band, already allocated to the mobile-satellite service (MSS).⁷⁰ The Commission did not discuss a transition period for the incumbent MSS operator in that band because the operator was not required to move its operations to a different portion of the band. Rather, MSS may continue to access the 2495-2500 MHz band by accepting any interference from the newly-allocated terrestrial services within the band.⁷¹ We believe the *Big LEO Spectrum Sharing* decision is therefore inapposite.

19. Lastly, we note that AirCell has more recently urged the Commission to shorten the transition period to one year rather than six months.⁷² For all of the foregoing reasons, we also deny AirCell's request to reduce the transition period to one year.

2. Transition Status Reports

20. AirCell states that, in order to help ensure that Airfone will timely conclude the transition of its incumbent narrowband operations from four to one megahertz of the 800 MHz air-ground band, we should establish milestones or benchmarks that Airfone must meet during the transition period and that we should require the company to regularly file reports regarding the status of the transition process. In the *Air-Ground Order*, the Commission explained that a new broadband system could not concurrently operate on the same spectrum block as Airfone's narrowband system and that it is therefore paramount that Airfone effect the transition to one megahertz within the two-year period so that a new 3 MHz licensee could begin providing new and innovative services to the traveling public. As explained above, the process of transitioning Airfone's incumbent system and its general aviation subscribers to operate on one megahertz of the band will be more complex than envisioned by AirCell. We therefore conclude that imposing transition benchmarks or milestones that Airfone would have to meet by target dates would be impracticable and potentially burdensome.

⁶⁹ See id. at 7-8, citing Review of the Spectrum Sharing Plan Among Non-Geostationary Satellite Orbit Mobile Satellite Service Systems in the 1.6/2.4 GHz Bands; Amendment of Part 2 of the Commission's Rules to Allocate Spectrum Below 3 GHz for Mobile and Fixed Services to Support the Introduction of New Advanced Wireless Services, including Third Generation Wireless Systems, *Report and Order, Fourth Report and Order, and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking*, 19 FCC Rcd 13356 (2004) (Big LEO Spectrum Sharing Order), petition for reconsideration pending.

⁷⁰ See Big LEO Spectrum Sharing Order, 19 FCC Rcd at 13387 ¶ 69.

⁷¹ See id., 19 FCC Rcd at 13388-89 ¶¶ 72-74.

⁷² See Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, counsel to AirCell, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated December 1, 2005 (AirCell December 5 Ex Parte); Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, counsel to AirCell, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated November 15, 2005 (AirCell November 15 Ex Parte); Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, counsel to AirCell, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated November 9, 2005; Letter from Jack W. Blumenstein, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, AirCell, to Kevin J. Martin, Chairman, Federal Communications Commission, dated November 2, 2005.

⁷³ See AirCell Reply at 4; AirCell December 5 Ex Parte at 2.

 $^{^{74}}$ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4438-4439 ¶ 75.

⁷⁵ See supra para. 15.

- 21. We agree with AirCell that we should require Airfone to file regular transition status reports. We find that such reports will serve the public interest by enabling FCC staff to closely monitor the transition of Airfone's narrowband system and to ensure that the transition is timely effected. We hereby delegate authority to the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau to adopt specific reporting requirements and direct it to issue a Public Notice enumerating such requirements within 60 calendar days of the adoption of this order. We envision that each report will provide specific details regarding the status of Airfone's transition of its base stations and its subscribers' aircraft so that they may operate on one megahertz of the 800 MHz air-ground band. At a minimum, each report should provide the number and percentage of each type of aircraft (commercial, general aviation, and government) and base stations that have been transitioned to operate in the one megahertz portion of the band. Airfone must file its initial transition status report with the Commission six months from the date of the grant of any new license in the band and at each of the three six-month intervals thereafter. Airfone is not required to submit any classified information regarding government aircraft in its reports. We also note that the company may seek confidential treatment of information contained in the transition reports in accordance with the Commission's rules and policies. To
- 22. In addition, if Airfone, or an affiliate of Airfone, wins an exclusive 3 MHz license at auction, it shall include in each status report—and file additional reports at six-month intervals from the conclusion of the two-year transition period until the expiration of its five-year nonrenewable license—information regarding the transition of its existing subscribers from its narrowband system to a broadband system. We hereby delegate authority to the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau to adopt specific reporting requirements and direct it to issue a Public Notice enumerating such requirements within 60 calendar days of the grant of an exclusive 3 MHz license to Airfone. At a minimum, Airfone must specify the number and percentage of each type of aircraft (commercial, general aviation, and government) and base stations that have been configured to operate in the three megahertz portion of the band. The report must also delineate which aircraft have been transitioned from Airfone's 4 MHz narrowband system directly to a 3 MHz broadband system, and which aircraft have been transitioned from the 4 MHz narrowband system to a 1 MHz narrowband system and then to a 3 MHz broadband system. As noted above, Airfone is not required to submit any classified information regarding government aircraft in its reports, and the company may seek confidential treatment of the reports in accordance with the Commission's rules and policies.

3. License Term

23. AirCell argues that grant of a five-year license to Verizon Airfone is antithetical to the Commission's goal in this proceeding to promote competition in the 800 MHz air-ground band and, therefore, "vulnerable to challenge" under the Administrative Procedure Act. We disagree. To the contrary, the Commission granted Airfone a *nonrenewable* five-year license, rather than a renewable ten-year license, in order to promote the introduction of competition and new services in the 800 MHz air-ground band. The Commission, in fact, rejected Airfone's claim that it must afford the company a hearing under Section 316 of the Act in the event that it modified its license to operate in the 800 MHz

⁷⁶ AirCell December 5 Ex Parte at 2. AirCell notes that such reports have the potential to facilitate transparency and potential negotiations among the incumbent and new entrant(s). *Id.*

⁷⁷ 47 CFR § 0.459.

⁷⁸ See AirCell Petition at 8-9.

⁷⁹ Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4438-4440 ¶¶ 73-82.

air-ground band.80

24. AirCell claims that if Airfone were to obtain an exclusive 3 MHz license, the winner of the corresponding 1 MHz license could be prevented from commencing operations until the end of the five-year license term. The Commission recognized this possibility in the *Air-Ground Order* and noted that the holder of a 1 MHz license might have to share spectrum with Airfone's incumbent system until the end of the company's five-year license term. The Commission also noted that, depending on its desired system configuration, the holder of a 1 MHz license might not find it technically optimal to operate an air-ground system while sharing spectrum with the incumbent narrowband system and, therefore, did not adopt a construction requirement for either of the 1 MHz licenses that will be made available at auction. We therefore reject AirCell's proposal to abbreviate Airfone's nonrenewable license term as well as its more recent proposal that, in the event that Airfone wins an exclusive 3 MHz license at auction, we should require it to vacate the remaining 1 MHz portion of the band before the end of its nonrenewable license term.

25. AirCell also argues that we should shorten the term of Airfone's license because, if band plan 1 is implemented (*i.e.*, two overlapping 3 MHz licenses), the licensees would have to overlap their systems 100 percent while the incumbent system operates in one megahertz of the band. ShirCell now claims that, with 100 percent spectrum overlap, isolation between two 3 MHz networks would be degraded and the licensees would have to extensively coordinate site locations. Unring the course of this proceeding, however, AirCell urged the Commission to adopt shared spectrum licensing in the band, noting that parties with overlapping licenses would act with "enlightened self-interest" and cooperate in the site selection process, and that there would be minimal degradation of the signal to interference plus

⁸⁰ *Id.* at 4440 ¶ 79. We note that Airfone filed an Opposition to the AirCell Petition on June 27, 2005, in which it defends its five-year license by asserting that it in fact should have received a ten-year license term and compensation to move its incumbent operations to one megahertz in the band. *See* Airfone Opposition at 1, 9. While Airfone presents this point as a counter to Aircell's attack on the five-year license, we observe that had Airfone actually requested in its Opposition that the Commission grant such relief, the request would have been procedurally defective. Specifically, the appropriate vehicle for Airfone to have asserted such a claim would have been to file a written request rejecting the license grant as made, which was required to be filed by June 13, 2005, 30 days from the effective date of the license grant. *See* 47 C.F.R. § 1.110; *see also* In the Matter of the Development of Operational, Technical and Spectrum Requirements for Meeting Federal, State And Local Public Safety Agency Communication Requirements Through the Year 2010, Establishment of Rules and Requirements for Priority Access Service, *Second Memorandum Opinion and Order*, 15 FCC Rcd 16844, 16862 ¶ 37 n.113 (2000) (noting that certain contentions were untimely presented in an opposition pleading, rather than being timely raised in a formal petition for reconsideration); 47 C.F.R. § 1.4(j) (when the 30-day deadline falls on a Sunday, parties are permitted to file on the next business day).

⁸¹ AirCell Petition at 9.

 $^{^{82}}$ See Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4442 \P 85.

⁸³ See id.

⁸⁴ See, e.g., AirCell Talking Points at 1(attached to AirCell November 15 Ex Parte).

⁸⁵ See AirCell Petition at 10.

⁸⁶ See id.

⁸⁷ See AirCell Further Notes on the Deployment of Two Cross-Polarized Systems in the ATG Band and Response to Verizon Airfone/Telcordia at 3 (Nov. 23, 2004).

noise ratio (SINR) of even fully overlapped systems in the band due to wave cross-polarization. ⁸⁸ AirCell's arguments, however, do not warrant reducing the term of the five-year license granted to Verizon Airfone. The Commission granted Airfone a five-year license term (which commenced on May 13, 2005), rather than a ten-year license term, to promote the introduction of new services in the 800 MHz air-ground band. ⁸⁹ The possibility that full spectrum sharing—during the period from when Airfone transitions to one megahertz in the band and the end of Airfone's license term—may not be optimal does not cause us to reconsider this decision. We therefore reject AirCell's request to shorten the license term to two years.

IV. REPORT AND ORDER

A. Incorporation by Reference of the Part 1 Standardized Auction Rules

26. In the Air-Ground Auction Notice, the Commission proposed to conduct auctions of both commercial and general aviation air-ground licenses in conformity with the general competitive bidding rules in Part 1, Subpart O, of the Commission's Rules, and substantially consistent with the bidding procedures that have been employed in previous Commission auctions. 90 Specifically, the Commission proposed to employ the Part 1 rules governing, among other things, designated entities, application and payment procedures, collusion issues, and unjust enrichment. Under this proposal, such rules would be subject to any modifications that the Commission may adopt in its Part 1 Competitive Bidding proceeding.⁹¹ The Commission noted that because alternative band plans are being made available in the 800 MHz air-ground service, with the selection of the final band configuration to be determined by applicants' bids in the auction, the determination of whether individual applications are mutually exclusive for purposes of Section 309(j) of the Communications Act will be based on whether different applicants have applied for licenses in different band configurations as well as on whether different applicants have applied for the same licenses. 92 The Commission tentatively concluded, however, that this and any other differences from its past auctions do not necessitate any changes to the Part 1 competitive bidding rules, and that the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau can address such differences through its standard practice of seeking comment on and establishing procedures for specific auctions.⁹³

27. We adopt our proposal to auction both 800 MHz commercial and 400 MHz general aviation air-ground licenses in conformity with the general competitive bidding rules set forth in Part 1, Subpart Q, of the Commission's Rules. The only party that commented on this proposal, Space Data, supports the use of our Part 1 competitive bidding rules for the commercial air-ground service, indicating that the use

⁸⁸ Deployment of Two Cross-Polarized Systems in the ATG Band at 3-5, 7 (Oct. 20, 2004).

⁸⁹ Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4438-4439 ¶¶ 75-76.

⁹⁰ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd 4403, 4464-65 ¶ 170. See also 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.2101-1.2113.

⁹¹ The Commission has, for example, recently adopted a Notice of Proposed Rule Making that seeks comment on changes to the Part 1 rules in connection with implementation of the Commercial Spectrum Enhancement Act, Pub. L. No. 108-494, 118 Stat. 3986, Title II (2004), and other measures designed to update these rules. Implementation of the Commercial Spectrum Enhancement Act and Modernization of the Commission's Competitive Bidding Rules and Procedures, *Declaratory Ruling and Notice of Proposed Rule Making*, 20 FCC Rcd 11268 (2005).

⁹² See 47 U.S.C. § 309(j)(1).

 $^{^{93}}$ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4465 \P 171.

of these well-established rules provides auction participants with consistent guidance, reduces the burden on the public and the Commission of developing service-specific auction requirements, and ensures that the commercial air-ground auction will not be unduly delayed. Space Data also states that any differences from past auctions resulting from the ability to bid under alternative band configurations do not necessitate changes to the Part 1 competitive bidding rules. We agree that using our Part 1 rules provides auction participants, the public, and the Commission with significant benefits, and we believe that they should be applied absent any demonstrated need to alter them for particular circumstances. Because we find no need to change them here, we will apply these rules to both commercial and general aviation air-ground auctions.

B. Provisions for Designated Entities

28. In the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, we tentatively concluded that small business bidding credits are appropriate for the commercial air-ground service, notwithstanding that the Commission has declined in the past to adopt provisions for designated entities in certain nationwide services, ⁹⁶ and that in previous auctions of nationwide licenses in which the Commission offered bidding credits to designated entities, none of the nationwide licenses was won by a designated entity. ⁹⁷ For the commercial air-ground service, we proposed to define a small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$40 million, and to define a very small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$15 million. We proposed a 15 percent bidding credit for small businesses and a 25 percent bidding credit for very small businesses, as set forth in our standardized schedule of bidding credits at 47 C.F.R. § 1.2110(f)(2). ⁹⁸ We also sought comment on whether small business bidding credits would be appropriate for the 400 MHz general aviation air-ground service. We noted, however, that general aviation air-ground licenses are specialized licenses that are generally held by relatively small businesses that appear unlikely to have difficulty obtaining the capital needed to participate in an auction. ⁹⁹

⁹⁴ Space Data Comments at 2-3.

⁹⁵ *Id.* at 3.

⁹⁶ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4466-67 ¶¶ 173-74. The Commission has not offered bidding credits in auctions of Direct Broadcast Satellite (DBS) or Digital Audio Radio Satellite (DARS) licenses. See Revision of Rules and Policies for the Direct Broadcast Satellite Service, Report and Order, 11 FCC Rcd 9712 (1995); Establishment of Rules and Policies for the Digital Audio Radio Satellite Service in the 2310-2360 MHz Band, Report and Order, Memorandum Opinion and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 12 FCC Rcd 5754 (1997).

⁹⁷ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4466-67 ¶¶ 173-74. Designated entities are small businesses, businesses owned by members of minority groups and/or women, and rural telephone companies. 47 C.F.R. § 1.2110(a).

⁹⁸ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4467 ¶ 175. We sought consultation regarding these proposed size standards with the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA), as required by the Small Business Act, 15 U.S.C. § 632(a)(2)(c), and 13 C.F.R. §§ 121.901-903. On January 26, 2005, the SBA indicated that these size standards appeared reasonable and that it had no specific comments. See Letter from Gary M. Jackson, Assistant Administrator for Size Standards, U.S. Small Business Administration, to Gary D. Michaels, Deputy Chief, Auctions and Spectrum Access Division, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, dated January 26, 2005.

⁹⁹ Air-Ground Auction Notice, 20 FCC Rcd at 4467-68 ¶ 178.

- 29. Space Data and AirCell support the use of small business bidding credits for the commercial air-ground service. Stating that "[a]n auction often provides the best opportunity for qualified designated entities to acquire wireless licenses," Space Data argues that this is particularly true in the case of the commercial air-ground service because only two licenses will be assigned and therefore it is unlikely that designated entities will be able to obtain a license through other means. AirCell contends that although air-ground licenses are nationwide, they "are uniquely suited for small businesses because of the anticipated low development and operational costs relative to other nationwide spectrum licenses." Both Space Data and AirCell urge us, however, to adopt bidding credits that are higher than those we proposed in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*. Specifically, both Space Data and AirCell request that we adopt a 25 percent bidding credit for small businesses and a 35 percent bidding credit for very small businesses.
- 30. Boeing and Verizon Airfone submitted reply comments in response to the comments of Space Data and AirCell. Boeing is not opposed to the Commission's proposal to offer a 15 percent bidding credit to small businesses and a 25 percent bidding credit to very small businesses, but opposes Space Data's and AirCell's request that we adopt bidding credits of 25 percent for small businesses and 35 percent for very small businesses. According to Boeing, the circumstances of certain of the auctions cited by Space Data and AirCell for which the Commission has offered bidding credits higher than those set forth in the Part 1 rules—*i.e.*, auctions of 39 GHz, Local Multipoint Distribution Service (LMDS), and narrowband Personal Communications Service (PCS) licenses—were different from the circumstances present here. Boeing also argues that the fact that small businesses have not acquired spectrum licenses in previous auctions of nationwide licenses with bidding credits "is attributable to the high implementation costs of those services as opposed to the credit level." at the same communication of the credit level."
- 31. Unlike Boeing, Airfone opposes the adoption of any bidding credits in the commercial airground service. Airfone argues that bidding credits are not appropriate for this service because, like DBS and DARS, services for which the Commission has not adopted bidding credits, it is a nationwide service that requires a significant initial outlay of capital to implement. Airfone further asserts that Space Data and AirCell have not attempted to quantify the costs of implementing a nationwide air-ground service and that they have provided no meaningful factual support for bidding credits. Finally, Airfone contends that the precedents cited by Space Data and AirCell do not support the adoption of any bidding credits because the licenses involved "were not truly nationwide" and the spectrum was not comparable to that of

¹⁰⁰ Space Data Comments at 4.

¹⁰¹ AirCell Comments at 2.

¹⁰² Space Data Comments at 5-6; AirCell Comments at 2-7.

¹⁰³ Boeing Reply Comments at 1-2, 5.

¹⁰⁴ *Id.* at 2-3.

¹⁰⁵ *Id.* at 3-4. *See also* Airfone Reply Comments at 4.

¹⁰⁶ Airfone Reply Comments at 2-4, 7.

¹⁰⁷ *Id.* at 4-5. *See also* Boeing Reply Comments at 4 (arguing that Space Data and AirCell have provided no basis for increasing the proposed bidding credits).

the air-ground service. 108

- 32. We conclude that it is appropriate to offer bidding credits in the commercial air-ground service. As we stated in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, no commercial air-ground license will authorize the use of as much spectrum as other nationwide services for which the Commission has declined to adopt small business bidding credits. ¹⁰⁹ In addition, we continue to believe that the operation of a commercial air-ground service may require lower capital expenditures than other nationwide services. ¹¹⁰ We disagree, for example, with Airfone's suggestion that the capital outlays necessary to provide commercial air-ground service are comparable to those needed to launch a satellite-based service such as DBS or DARS. Therefore, we find that bidding credits should be made available to small businesses to assist them with attracting capital.
- 33. We received no comments opposing our specific proposal in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice* to define a small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$40 million, and a very small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$15 million, for the commercial air-ground service. We also received no comments proposing any other small business definitions. We continue to believe that, although the capital requirements of air-ground operations should be lower than those of certain other nationwide services and therefore should not constitute a basis for making bidding credits unavailable, such operations may be more capital intensive than other services provided to smaller geographic areas. We therefore believe that the small business definitions we proposed in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, which are the same as those we have adopted for other services that serve large geographic areas, are appropriate for this service. We therefore adopt our proposed small business definitions. Thus, for this service we will define a small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$40 million, and we will define a very small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$15 million.
- 34. We turn now to Space Data's and AirCell's arguments in favor of establishing higher bidding credit levels than proposed in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*. According to Space Data, increased bidding credits will help small companies attract financing, and "[e]ffective competition for [air-ground]

¹⁰⁸ Airfone Reply Comments at 5-7.

¹⁰⁹ Air-Ground Auction Notice. 20 FCC Rcd at 4466 ¶ 174.

¹¹⁰ As we indicated in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, air-ground service may require fewer ground (base) stations than other terrestrial services that are provided on a nationwide basis, such as broadband PCS. 20 FCC Rcd at 4466 ¶ 174 n. 479. According to AirCell, a nationwide air-ground network requires only 135 cell sites. Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, Counsel to AirCell, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated November 2, 2005; Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, Counsel to AirCell, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated October 19, 2005; Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, Counsel to AirCell, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated October 11, 2005; Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, Counsel to AirCell, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated September 30, 2005.

¹¹¹ On September 19, 2005, the SBA approved the Commission's request to adopt the proposed small business size standards for the commercial air-ground service. *See* Letter from Hector V. Barreto, Administrator, U.S. Small Business Administration, to Gary D. Michaels, Deputy Chief, Auctions and Spectrum Access Division, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, dated September 19, 2005.

licenses will only be accomplished by providing small companies with increased bidding credits." According to AirCell, in order to be effective, bidding credits must be tailored for the specific circumstances in each auction; the past failure of small businesses to win licenses in Commission auctions of nationwide licenses is an indication that the bidding credits offered were too small, not an indication that small businesses are inherently incapable of providing nationwide services; and the Commission has adopted bidding credits different from the Part 1 schedule for various auctions. AirCell also argues that "the Commission never intended a 'blanket application' of the default bidding credits in Part 1 to all license auctions. Instead, the Commission regularly solicits comments and adopts bidding credits 'specifically tailored' to each service."

- 35. AirCell further argues that, in the absence of increased bidding credit levels, commercial airground licenses will be more difficult for a small business to acquire than licenses in other nationwide services because the opportunity to acquire an exclusive license in Band Plan 2 or 3 gives large companies a particular incentive to outbid smaller bidders, and because large bidders with terrestrial wireless affiliates will have yet another incentive to place substantial bids in the auction. AirCell, the Commission should take steps to "neutralize the effects of the exclusive license option and the advantageous competitive position enjoyed by bidders with terrestrial wireless affiliates." 116
- 36. We agree with AirCell that the Commission did not intend to apply the Part 1 bidding credit schedule automatically to all auctions without any opportunity for the consideration of alternative bidding credits. However, the Commission adopted the Part 1 schedule for the specific purpose of providing consistency and predictability. Thus, in adopting this schedule, the Commission stated: "We believe that standardizing the rules regarding definitions of eligible entities, unjust enrichment and bidding credits will assist small, minority and women-owned businesses because the rules' predictability will facilitate the business planning and capital fundraising process." The Commission further said: "[W]e believe that an approach in which we provide certainty for future auctions about the size of available bidding credits will benefit small businesses because potential bidders will have more information well in advance of the auction than previously about how such levels will be set." Although there may be cases in which we find that bidding credits other than those prescribed in the Part 1 schedule are appropriate, the Commission has concluded that the consistency and predictability that this schedule offers is advantageous to small businesses.

¹¹² Space Data Comments at 6.

¹¹³ AirCell Comments at 2-5.

¹¹⁴ *Id.* at 4, citing Letter from Margaret W. Wiener, Chief, Auctions and Spectrum Access Division, Federal Communications Commission, to Elizabeth R. Sachs, Counsel, American Mobile Telecommunications Association, 18 FCC Rcd 25149, 25152 (2003).

¹¹⁵ AirCell Comments at 5-6.

¹¹⁶ *Id.* at 6.

Amendment of Part 1 of the Commission's Rules—Competitive Bidding Procedures, *Third Report* and Order and Second Further Notice of Proposed Rule Making, 13 FCC Rcd 374, 386 ¶ 14 (1997) (Competitive Bidding Third R&O).

¹¹⁸ *Id.* at 402-03 ¶ 45.

- 37. In addition, the Commission has determined that the Part 1 schedule generally provides bidding credits that are effective in helping small businesses attract investment capital to participate in auctions. Since the adoption of the Part 1 schedule, the Commission therefore has followed the practice of defining small businesses on a service-specific basis, taking into account the capital requirements and other characteristics of each particular service, and then adopting bidding credits consistent with the Part 1 schedule. Although AirCell and Space Data cite examples of services in which the Commission has offered bidding credits different from the Part 1 bidding credit schedule, in all of these services the Commission had adopted these bidding credits prior to establishment of the Part 1 schedule.
- 38. In Auction No. 55, for example, the Commission offered levels of bidding credits that were different from those specified in the Part 1 schedule because those levels had been established for the 900 MHz Specialized Mobile Radio (SMR) service in a rulemaking proceeding that preceded adoption of the Part 1 schedule and had not been revised or superseded. In LMDS, also cited by AirCell and Space Data, bidding credits were established prior to the Commission's adoption of the Part 1 schedule. Moreover, the Commission adopted higher bidding credit levels for LMDS specifically to compensate for its simultaneous elimination of the installment payment program that had previously been adopted for LMDS. Similarly, all of the other bidding credits AirCell and Space Data cite as examples of bidding credits that are higher than those in the Part 1 schedule—*i.e.*, bidding credits for the regional narrowband PCS auction held in 1994 and for the Wireless Communications Service and the 39 GHz band—were adopted prior to the establishment of the Part 1 schedule. Moreover, the Commission has denied requests for bidding credits higher than the Part 1 levels in the case of broadband PCS C and F block

¹¹⁹ See, e.g., Service Rules for Advanced Wireless Services in the 1.7 GHz and 2.1 GHz Bands, Report and Order, 18 FCC Rcd 25162, 25219-20 ¶ 148 (2003); Amendments to Parts 1, 2, 87 and 101 of the Commission's Rules to License Fixed Services at 24 GHz, Report and Order, 15 FCC Rcd 16934, 16968 ¶¶ 79-80 (2000). See also Section 257 Triennial Report to Congress; Identifying and Eliminating Market Entry Barriers For Entrepreneurs and Other Small Businesses, Report, 19 FCC Rcd 3034, 3083-85 ¶¶ 161-62 (2004).

 $^{^{120}}$ The Commission's practice of adopting service-specific small business definitions was established in Implementation of Section 309(j) of the Communications Act—Competitive Bidding, *Second Memorandum Opinion and Order*, 9 FCC Rcd 7245, 7269 ¶ 145 (1994), and affirmed in the *Competitive Bidding Third R&O*, 13 FCC Rcd at 388 ¶ 18.

¹²¹ Letter from Margaret W. Wiener, Chief, Auctions and Spectrum Access Division, Federal Communications Commission, to Elizabeth R. Sachs, Counsel, American Mobile Telecommunications Association, 18 FCC Rcd 25149 (2003).

¹²² See Rulemaking to Amend Parts 1, 2, 21, and 25 of the Commission's Rules to Redesignate the 27.5-29.5 GHz Frequency Band, to Reallocate the 29.5-30.0 GHz Frequency Band, to Establish Rules and Policies for Local Multipoint Distribution Service and for Fixed Satellite Services, Second Order on Reconsideration, 12 FCC Rcd 15082, 15095-96 ¶¶ 19-20 (1997).

¹²³ See Implementation of Section 309(j) of the Communications Act—Competitive Bidding, Narrowband PCS, *Third Memorandum Opinion and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking*, 10 FCC Rcd 175 (1994); Amendment of the Commission's Rules to Establish Part 27, the Wireless Telecommunications Service ("WCS"), *Report and Order*, 12 FCC Rcd 10785 (1997); Amendment of the Commission's Rules Regarding the 37.0-38.6 GHz and 38-6-40.0 GHz Bands, *Report and Order and Second Notice of Proposed Rule Making*, 12 FCC Rcd 18600 (1997).

licenses subject to open bidding, ¹²⁴ narrowband PCS licenses, ¹²⁵ and 24 GHz licenses. ¹²⁶

- 39. We also note that the Commission has established a bidding credit of 35 percent as part of the Part 1 schedule, but it has determined that this level of bidding credit is appropriate for businesses with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$3 million. Thus, the Commission has provided for the highest bidding credit AirCell and Space Data request but has found that this level of bidding credit is suitable for businesses with lower gross revenues than businesses to which AirCell and Space Data propose to apply it.
- 40. AirCell cites a Declaration by economist Paul London that it had submitted in a previous *ex parte* filing to support its arguments that (1) the availability of an exclusive license provides an incentive for a larger company to use its resources to win such a license, ¹²⁸ and (2) large bidders with terrestrial wireless affiliates will have an additional incentive to place substantial bids in the auction because they will want to use air-ground service to promote their terrestrial services. ¹²⁹ We are not persuaded by these arguments. AirCell's first point rests on the assumption that Band Plans 2 and 3 would result in a single provider of air-ground services because the 1 MHz license "will not be adequate to provide competitive broadband services." ¹³⁰ Dr. London further argues that when a license provides an opportunity for the winning bidder to operate as a sole provider of services in the market, bidders will be willing to pay more for the license in order to capture the additional future monopoly profits. ¹³¹ We disagree with the premise of this argument, however, that the license for an exclusive 3 MHz license is in essence a license to operate as a monopoly provider of air-ground services. As we discussed in the *Air-Ground Order*, we

¹²⁴ Amendment of the Commission's Rules Regarding Installment Payment Financing for Personal Communications Services (PCS) Licensees, *Sixth Report and Order and Order on Reconsideration*, 15 FCC Rcd 16266, 16287-88 ¶ 145 (2000). *See also* Amendment of the Commission's Rules Regarding Installment Payment Financing for Personal Communications Services (PCS) Licensees, *Order on Reconsideration*, 16 FCC Rcd 1343, 1353 ¶ 20 (2001).

Amendment of the Commission's Rules to Establish New Personal Communications Services, Narrowband PCS; Implementation of Section 309(j) of the Communications Act—Competitive Bidding, Narrowband PCS, *Second Report and Order and Second Further Notice of Proposed Rule Making*, 15 FCC Rcd 10456, 10477-78 ¶¶ 43-44 (2000).

¹²⁶ Amendments to Parts 1, 2, 87 and 101 of the Commission's Rules to License Fixed Services at 24 GHz, *Report and Order,* 15 FCC Rcd 16934, 16967-68 ¶¶ 77-80 (2000).

¹²⁷ 47 C.F.R. § 1.2110(f)(2)(i).

¹²⁸ AirCell Comments at 5-6, citing Declaration of Dr. Paul A. London (London Declaration), Attachment to Letter from Michele Farquhar, Counsel, AirCell, to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated December 8, 2004, at ¶¶ 12-14.

¹²⁹ AirCell Comments at 5-6, citing London Declaration at ¶ 20.

¹³⁰ AirCell Comments at 5, note 14. AirCell's argument that bidding credits will affect marketplace competition, included in *ex parte* presentations, also rests on this assumption. Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, Counsel to AirCell, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated November 2, 2005, Attachment at 1; Letter from Michele C. Farquhar, Counsel to AirCell, Inc., to Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, dated October 19, 2005, Attachment at 1.

¹³¹ London Declaration at ¶ 12.

believe that air-ground service providers operating in the 800 MHz band will face competition from satellite-based operators and potentially from providers operating in other spectrum bands.¹³² Furthermore, also as discussed in the *Air-Ground Order*, we believe that operators using a 1 MHz license can provide a number of related services that may compete with the offerings of a provider with a 3 MHz license.¹³³

- 41. We also disagree with AirCell's argument that bidders with terrestrial wireless affiliates will have a disproportionate incentive to place substantial bids in the auction in order to promote their terrestrial services. This argument also rests on an assumption of market power that we do not believe will be characteristic of the market for broadband air-ground services. Dr. London's statement, which AirCell cites, discusses "how [Verizon] is using its current monopoly to promote its own terrestrial cellular service." However, notwithstanding the current state of the market for air-ground voice services, we believe that the band plans made available and the flexible service rules adopted in this proceeding, along with new airborne services being developed on satellite-based platforms, will lead to a competitive market for broadband air-ground services.
- 42. We conclude that neither Space Data nor AirCell has provided sufficient support for departing from our Part 1 bidding credit schedule in the 800 MHz air-ground service. Although Space Data asserts that increased bidding credits would help small companies attract financing, it provides no facts that would indicate that our standard schedule of bidding credits will be insufficient to assist small entities in attracting capital. As we have explained, we have found this schedule to be effective in promoting the participation of small entities in auctions, and we continue to find that the consistency of a standardized schedule is helpful to small businesses in that it enables them to formulate plans well in advance of auctions. If we were to raise or lower bidding credits on the basis of the number of licenses available, or the possible incentives large entities might have to bid substantial sums for licenses, it would be difficult for us to maintain a coherent bidding credit program and the predictability of our current program would be undermined. We therefore conclude that, absent more specific facts to justify a departure from our Part 1 schedule, we should not deviate from it here.
- 43. Finally, no parties filed comments on the issue of whether small business bidding credits would be appropriate for the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. As discussed in the *Air-Ground Auction Notice*, general aviation air-ground licenses are generally held by relatively small businesses, and larger telecommunications providers do not routinely apply for them. Moreover, the initial auction for the nine general aviation licenses for which we have received applications will be limited to those parties with applications already on file. Given these circumstances, we conclude that bidding credits are unnecessary in the auction of these licenses. If in the future we are presented with evidence of a need for bidding credits in the 400 MHz air-ground service, we will reconsider this issue, but we find no need for bidding credits in this service under current circumstances.

V. PROCEDURAL MATTERS

A. Congressional Review Act

44. The Commission will send a copy of this Order on Reconsideration and Report and Order in

¹³² Air-Ground Order, 20 FCC Rcd at 4425 ¶ 40.

¹³³ *Id.* at 4425-26 ¶ 41.

¹³⁴ London Declaration at ¶ 20.

a report to be sent to Congress and the Government Accountability Office pursuant to the Congressional Review Act, see 5 U.S.C. 801(a)(1)(A).

B. Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis

45. Pursuant to the Regulatory Flexibility Act,¹³⁵ the Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (FRFA) for the Report and Order is set forth in Appendix C. The Commission's Consumer and Governmental Affairs Bureau, Reference Information Center, will send a copy of the Report and Order, including the Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis, to the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business Administration.

C. Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995

46. This Order on Reconsideration and Report and Order does not contain either new or modified information collection requirements subject to the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 (PRA), Public Law 104-13. In addition, therefore, it does not contain any new or modified "information collection burden for small business concerns with fewer than 25 employees," pursuant to the Small Business Paperwork Relief Act of 2002, Public Law 107-198, *see* 44 U.S.C. 3506(c)(4).

D. Contact Information

47. The primary Wireless Telecommunications Bureau contact for this proceeding is Richard Arsenault, Chief Counsel of the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau Mobility Division (202-418-0920, Richard.Arsenault@fcc.gov). For auctions-related issues, contact Lynne Milne (202-418-7055, Lynne.Milne@fcc.gov). Press inquiries should be directed to Chelsea Fallon, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau, at (202) 418-7991, TTY at (202) 418-7233, or e-mail at Chelsea.Fallon@fcc.gov.

VI. CONCLUSION

- 48. In this Order on Reconsideration, we deny Space Data's request that we permit the provision of ancillary land mobile and fixed service in the 800 MHz air-ground band on a secondary basis. However, we clarify that stratospheric platforms, such as high-altitude balloons, may be used to provide air-ground services in the band. We deny AirCell's request to shorten from five to two years the term of the nonrenewable license granted to Verizon Airfone, as well as AirCell's request to abbreviate from two years to six months the transition period that the Commission adopted in order for Verizon Airfone to move its incumbent narrowband operations to one megahertz of spectrum in the 800 MHz air-ground band. However, we will require Airfone to file regular status reports regarding the transition of its incumbent system to one megahertz of the band. In addition, in the event that Airfone, or an affiliate of Airfone, wins an exclusive 3 MHz license, it will be subject to certain reporting requirements to enable the Commission to monitor Airfone's migration of its narrowband subscribers to a new broadband system.
- 49. In this Report and Order, we adopt competitive bidding rules for the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service and the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. We will employ the general competitive bidding rules set forth in Part 1, Subpart Q, of the Commission's Rules for both services. For the 800 MHz air-ground service, we will define a small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$40 million, and a very small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding

22

¹³⁵ See 5 U.S.C. § 604.

years not exceeding \$15 million. We will make available a 15 percent bidding credit for small businesses and a 25 percent bidding credit for very small businesses, as set forth in our standardized schedule of bidding credits at 47 C.F.R. § 1.2110(f)(2). Finally, we conclude that bidding credits are unnecessary for the 400 MHz air-ground service.

VII. ORDERING CLAUSES

- 50. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT, pursuant to the authority contained in Sections 1, 4(i), 11, 303(r) and (y), 308, 309, and 332 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), 161, 303(r), 303(y), 308, 309, and 332, this ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION and REPORT AND ORDER is hereby ADOPTED.
- 51. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1, 4(i), and 4(j) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), and 154(j), and Section 1.429 of the Commission's rules, 47 C.F.R. § 1.429, that the Petition for Clarification and Reconsideration, filed by Space Data Corporation on May 13, 2005, IS GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART, to the extent indicated herein.
- 52. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1, 4(i), and 4(j) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), and 154(j), and Section 1.429 of the Commission's rules, 47 C.F.R. § 1.429, that the Petition for Partial Reconsideration, filed by AirCell, Inc. on May 13, 2005, IS DENIED.
- 53. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1, 4(i), and 4(j) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), and 154(j), and Sections 0.201 and 0.331 of the Commission's rules, 47 C.F.R. §§ 0.201 and 0.331, that the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau shall, within 60 calendar days of the date of the adoption of this order, issue a Public Notice that specifies the reporting requirements imposed on Verizon Airfone pursuant to paragraph 21 of the ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION.
- 54. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 1, 4(i), and 4(j) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), and 154(j), and Sections 0.201 and 0.331 of the Commission's rules, 47 C.F.R. §§ 0.201 and 0.331, that in the event an exclusive 3 MHz license is granted to Verizon Airfone, or an affiliate of Verizon Airfone, the Wireless Telecommunications Bureau shall, within 60 calendar days of the grant thereof, issue a Public Notice that specifies the reporting requirements imposed on Verizon Airfone pursuant to paragraph 22 of the ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION.
- 55. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Sections 4(i), 303(c), 303(r), and 309(j) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 154(i), 303(c), 303(r) and 309(j), that Part 22 of the Commission's Rules IS AMENDED as specified in Appendix B, effective 60 days after publication in the Federal Register.
- 56. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT the Commission's Consumer and Governmental Affairs Bureau, Reference Information Center, SHALL SEND a copy of this ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION AND REPORT AND ORDER, including the Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis, to the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business Administration.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

Marlene H. Dortch Secretary

Appendix A—Commenting Parties

WT Docket No. 03-103

Petitions for Reconsideration and/or Clarification

AirCell, Inc (AirCell)

Space Data Corporation (Space Data)

Oppositions and Comments

CTIA-The Wireless Association (CTIA)

LiveTV, Inc.

Nextel Communications, Inc. (Nextel)

The Boeing Company (Boeing)

Verizon Airfone Inc. (Airfone)

Replies

AirCell

Space Data

Ex Partes

AirCell

Airfone

Boeing

Continental Airlines

Nextel

Wiley Rein & Fielding LLP

WT Docket No. 05-42

Comments

AirCell

Space Data

Reply Comments

Airfone

Boeing

Ex Partes

AirCell

Airfone

Appendix B—Final Rules

Part 22 of Title 47 of the Code of Federal Regulations is amended as follows:

1. The authority citation for Part 22 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 47 U.S.C. 154, 222, 303, 309 and 332.

2. Add a new Section 22.881 to read as follows:

§ 22.881 Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service subject to competitive bidding.

Mutually exclusive initial applications for general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service licenses and mutually exclusive initial applications for commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service licenses are subject to competitive bidding. The general competitive bidding procedures set forth in part 1, subpart Q, of this chapter will apply unless otherwise provided in this subpart.

3. Add a new Section 22.882 to read as follows:

§ 22.882 Designated entities.

- (a) Eligibility for small business provisions in the commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service.
- (1) A small business is an entity that, together with its affiliates, its controlling interests and the affiliates of its controlling interests, has average gross revenues that are not more than \$40 million for the preceding three years.
- (2) A very small business is an entity that, together with its affiliates, its controlling interests and the affiliates of its controlling interests, has average gross revenues that are not more than \$15 million for the preceding three years.
- (b) Bidding credits in the commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service.
- (1) A winning bidder that qualifies as a small business, as defined in this section, or a consortium of small businesses may use a bidding credit of 15 percent, as specified in § 1.2110(f)(2)(iii) of this chapter, to lower the cost of its winning bid on a commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service license.
- (2) A winning bidder that qualifies as a very small business, as defined in this section, or a consortium of very small businesses may use a bidding credit of 25 percent, as specified in § 1.2110(f)(2)(ii) of this chapter, to lower the cost of its winning bid on a commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service license.

APPENDIX C

FINAL REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ANALYSIS

(For Report and Order)

1. As required by the Regulatory Flexibility Act of 1980, as amended (RFA), ¹³⁶ an Initial Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (IRFA) of the possible significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities by the policies and rules proposed in the *Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM)* was incorporated therein. ¹³⁷ The Commission sought written public comment on the proposals in the *NPRM*, including comment on the IRFA. No comments were submitted specifically in response to the IRFA. We nonetheless discuss certain comments below. This present Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (FRFA) conforms to the RFA. ¹³⁸

Need for, and Objectives of, the Report and Order:

2. In this *Report and Order (R&O)* we adopt competitive bidding rules for the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service and the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. Such rules are necessary because, under Section 309(j) of the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. § 309(j), the Commission is required to choose among mutually exclusive applications for spectrum licenses using competitive bidding, except in certain cases not applicable here. We have revised our rules governing the four megahertz of dedicated spectrum in the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service and intend to make new licenses available in this service. ¹³⁹ If mutually exclusive applications are filed for these licenses, the Commission will be required to resolve such applications by competitive bidding. We also have pending before us nine groups of mutually exclusive applications for licenses in the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service, and we will schedule an auction to resolve these applications. In addition to adopting our proposal in the *Notice of Proposed Rulemaking* to apply our general Part 1 competitive bidding rules to both the 800 MHz commercial air-ground service, we adopt bidding credits for small businesses in the 800 MHz commercial air-ground service in order to help small entities attract capital to participate in the 800 MHz air-ground auction.

Summary of Significant Issues Raised by Public Comments in Response to the IRFA:

3. No comments were submitted specifically in response to the IRFA.

Description and Estimate of the Number of Small Entities to Which the Rules Will Apply:

4. The RFA directs agencies to provide a description of, and, where feasible, an estimate of, the number of small entities that may be affected by the rules adopted herein. The RFA generally

¹³⁶ See 5 U.S.C. §§ 603. The RFA, see 5 U.S.C. §§ 601-612, has been amended by the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-121, Title II, 110 Stat. 857 (1996) (SBREFA).

¹³⁷ See Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules to Benefit the Consumers of Air-Ground Telecommunications Services, Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Parts 1, 22, and 90 of the Commission's Rules, Report and Order and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 20 FCC Rcd 4403 (2005) (Air-Ground R&O and NPRM); see also R&O, supra note 1.

¹³⁸ See 5 U.S.C. § 604.

¹³⁹ See generally Air-Ground R&O, 20 FCC Rcd 4403 (2005).

¹⁴⁰ 5 U.S.C. § 604(a)(3).

defines the term "small entity" as having the same meaning as the terms "small business," "small organization," and "small governmental jurisdiction." In addition, the term "small business" has the same meaning as the term "small business concern" under the Small Business Act. A "small business concern" is one which: (1) is independently owned and operated; (2) is not dominant in its field of operation; and (3) satisfies any additional criteria established by the Small Business Administration (SBA). Administration (SBA).

- Adiotelephone Service. The SBA has, however, developed a small business size standard for the Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. The SBA has, however, developed a small business size standard for wireless firms within the two broad economic census categories of "Paging" and "Cellular and Other Wireless Telecommunications." Under both SBA categories, a wireless business is small if it has 1,500 or fewer employees. For the census category Cellular and Other Wireless Telecommunications, Census Bureau data for 1997 show that there were 977 firms in this category that operated for the entire year. Of this total, 965 firms had employment of 999 or fewer employees, and an additional 12 firms had employment of 1,000 employees or more. Thus, under this second category and size standard, the majority of firms can be considered small. In addition, annual FCC data show that 437 carriers have reported that they are engaged in the provision of "wireless telephony," which includes cellular service, personal communications service, and specialized mobile radio telephony. We have estimated that 260 of these are small, under the SBA small business size standard. Finally and more specifically, we have determined that currently there are 11 licensees in the Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service, and we estimate that almost all of them qualify as small under the SBA small business size standard for "Cellular and Other Wireless Telecommunications."
- 6. As we proposed in the NPRM, we today adopt small business size standards specific to the 800 MHz commercial Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. Thus, we define a small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$40 million, and we define a very small business as an entity with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years

¹⁴¹ 5 U.S.C. § 601(6).

^{142 5} U.S.C. § 601(3) (incorporating by reference the definition of "small-business concern" in the Small Business Act, 15 U.S.C. § 632). Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 601(3), the statutory definition of a small business applies "unless an agency, after consultation with the Office of Advocacy of the Small Business Administration and after opportunity for public comment, establishes one or more definitions of such term which are appropriate to the activities of the agency and publishes such definition(s) in the Federal Register."

¹⁴³ 15 U.S.C. § 632.

¹⁴⁴ 13 C.F.R. § 121.201, NAICS code 513321 (changed to 517211 in October 2002).

¹⁴⁵ *Id*.

¹⁴⁶ U.S. Census Bureau, 1997 Economic Census, Subject Series: "Information," Table 5, Employment Size of Firms Subject to Federal Income Tax: 1997, NAICS code 513322 (issued Oct. 2000).

¹⁴⁷ *Id*. The census data do not provide a more precise estimate of the number of firms that have employment of 1,500 or fewer employees; the largest category provided is "Firms with 1000 employees or more."

¹⁴⁸ FCC, Wireline Competition Bureau, Industry Analysis and Technology Division, "Trends in Telephone Service" at Table 5.3, page 5-5 (June 2005). This source uses data that are current as of October 1, 2004.

¹⁴⁹ *Id*.

not exceeding \$15 million. 150 We do not know how many entities interested in providing commercial airground service fall within these definitions. For purposes of this FRFA, we assume that a significant percentage of such entities will be small businesses or very small businesses under these definitions. We have not adopted small business size standards specific to the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. We therefore will use SBA's small business size standard applicable to "Cellular and Other Wireless Telecommunications," i.e., an entity employing no more than 1,500 persons, for the 400 MHz general aviation air-ground service. ¹⁵¹ As noted above, there are 11 licensees in the Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. Ten of these operate in the general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service, and we estimate that all or almost all of them qualify as small under the SBA small business size standard. In addition, as noted above, we have pending before us nine groups of mutually exclusive applications for licenses in the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service; these nine groups include six applicants that are not already licensees in the general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. As with the licensees in this service, we estimate that all or almost all of these six applicants qualify as small under the SBA small business size standard. We also estimate that all or almost all of any future applicants in the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service will be small under the SBA small business size standard.

Description of Projected Reporting, Recordkeeping, and Other Compliance Requirements:

7. The R&O does not establish new reporting, recordkeeping, or other compliance requirements but extends the Commission's existing Part 1 competitive bidding rules to the Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. Applicants for air-ground licenses will therefore be required to file a short-form application on FCC Form 175 to participate in auctions, and auction winners will be required to file a long-form application on FCC Form 601. While these application requirements are new with respect to applicants in the air-ground services, they are the same application requirements the Commission has applied to other auctionable services for a number of years.

Steps Taken to Minimize Significant Economic Impact on Small Entities, and Significant Alternatives Considered:

8. The RFA requires an agency to describe any significant alternatives that it has considered in developing its approach, which may include the following four alternatives (among others): "(1) the establishment of differing compliance or reporting requirements or timetables that take into account the resources available to small entities; (2) the clarification, consolidation, or simplification of compliance and reporting requirements under the rule for such small entities; (3) the use of performance rather than design standards; and (4) an exemption from coverage of the rule, or any part thereof, for such small entities." ¹⁵²

¹⁵⁰ We sought consultation regarding these size standards with the SBA, as required by the Small Business Act, 15 U.S.C. § 632(a)(2)(c), and 13 C.F.R. §§ 121.901-903. On January 26, 2005, the SBA indicated that these size standards appeared reasonable and that it had no specific comments. *See* Letter from Gary M. Jackson, Assistant Administrator for Size Standards, U.S. Small Business Administration, to Gary D. Michaels, Deputy Chief, Auctions and Spectrum Access Division, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, dated January 26, 2005. No parties filed comments opposing these size standards. On September 19, 2005, the SBA approved the Commission's request to adopt these small business size standards for the commercial air-ground service. *See* Letter from Hector V. Barreto, Administrator, U.S. Small Business Administration, to Gary D. Michaels, Deputy Chief, Auctions and Spectrum Access Division, Wireless Telecommunications Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, dated September 19, 2005.

¹⁵¹ 13 CFR § 121.201, NAICS codes 513322 (changed to 517212 in October 2002).

¹⁵² 5 U.S.C. § 603(c)(1) – (c)(4).

- 9. We have taken significant steps to assist small entities. For instance, we have adopted our proposal to auction both 800 MHz commercial and 400 MHz general aviation air-ground licenses in conformity with the general competitive bidding rules set forth in Part 1, Subpart Q, of the Commission's Rules. We believe that use of these well-established rules provides consistent guidance, reduces burdens on bidders and the Commission, and avoids undue delay in the provision of services. ¹⁵³
- 10. In addition, to provide opportunities for small entities to participate in the 800 MHz commercial air-ground auction, we offer bidding credits to small businesses (entities with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$40 million) and very small businesses (entities with average annual gross revenues for the three preceding years not exceeding \$15 million). The bidding credits adopted are 15 percent for small businesses and 25 percent for very small businesses. These bidding credits are consistent with the Commission's standardized schedule of bidding credits at 47 C.F.R. § 1.2110(f)(2). One party, Verizon Airfone Inc., filed comments opposing the adoption of bidding credits in the 800 MHz commercial air-ground auction. Two parties, AirCell, Inc., and Space Data Corporation, filed comments requesting higher bidding credits than those we adopt. We conclude that bidding credits are appropriate for the 800 MHz commercial air-ground service and that AirCell, Inc., and Space Data Corporation have not provided sufficient support for departing from the Commission's Part 1 bidding credit schedule, which the Commission has used effectively since 1997 to promote the participation of small businesses in auctions and whose predictability is helpful to small businesses in the business planning and capital fundraising process. 154
- 11. No parties filed comments on the issue of whether small business bidding credits would be appropriate for the 400 MHz general aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service. As discussed in the R&O, general aviation air-ground licenses are generally held by relatively small businesses, and larger telecommunications providers do not routinely apply for them. Moreover, the initial auction for the nine general aviation licenses for which we have received applications will be limited to those parties with applications already on file. Given these circumstances, we conclude that bidding credits are unnecessary in the auction of these licenses. If in the future we are presented with evidence of a need for bidding credits in the 400 MHz air-ground service, we will reconsider this issue, but we find no need for bidding credits in this service under current circumstances.
- 12. Concerning compliance burdens, we note that the requirement of filing applications on appropriate forms is necessary in order to ensure that applicants are qualified to participate in auctions and hold licenses. Certain information required on FCC Form 175 is also necessary to ensure that only applicants that qualify as small businesses or very small businesses receive the bidding credits offered to such entities. We have reduced the burden of the application process wherever possible by requiring limited information on FCC Form 175 and requiring more complete information only from auction winners on FCC Form 601.

Report to Congress:

13. The Commission will send a copy of this R&O, including this FRFA, in a report to be sent to Congress pursuant to the Congressional Review Act. In addition, the Commission will send a copy of this R&O, including this FRFA, to the Chief Counsel for Advocacy of the Small Business

¹⁵³ See R&O, supra ¶ 23.

 $^{^{154}}$ See R&O, supra \P 36. See generally 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.2110(f)(1), (2).

¹⁵⁵ See generally, 5 U.S.C. § 801 (a)(1)(A).

Administration. A copy of this R&O and FRFA (or summaries thereof) will be published in the Federal Register. 156

¹⁵⁶ See 5 U.S.C. § 604(b).

STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER MICHAEL J. COPPS APPROVING IN PART, CONCURRING IN PART

In the Matter of Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules To Benefit the Consumers of Air-Ground Telecommunications Services; Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Parts 1, 22, and 90 of the Commission's Rules, WT Docket No. 03-103

Amendment of Parts 1 and 22 of the Commission's Rules To Adopt Competitive Bidding Rules for Commercial and General Aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service, WT Docket No. 05-42

Application of Verizon Airfone Inc. for Renewal of 800 MHz Air-Ground Radiotelephone License, Call Sign KNKG804, File No. 0001716212

Order on Reconsideration and Report and Order, adopted December 8, 2005.

Today's action brings airline passengers one step closer to realizing the benefits of new air-to-ground broadband services. The current narrowband air-to-ground service – which is expensive and limited to voice – has not lived up to expectations. New air-to-ground broadband will afford passengers a wider and more cost-effective array of services, and I encourage the auction winner to roll these services out to passengers as quickly as possible.

Notwithstanding my enthusiasm for new consumer broadband options in the skies, I concur in part due to my concerns that our original decision created the strong possibility of a monopoly licensee in air-to-ground broadband services. Although that issue is no longer before us, I remain concerned that America's aviation industry and its passengers will not have the full range of choices in air-to-ground broadband that they might otherwise have enjoyed. We must nevertheless proceed forward based on the decisions already taken to ensure the timely deployment of broadband for the benefit of the flying public.

STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER JONATHAN ADELSTEIN APPROVING IN PART, CONCURRING IN PART

In the Matter of Amendment of Part 22 of the Commission's Rules To Benefit the Consumers of Air-Ground Telecommunications Services; Biennial Regulatory Review—Amendment of Parts 1, 22, and 90 of the Commission's Rules, WT Docket No. 03-103

Amendment of Parts 1 and 22 of the Commission's Rules To Adopt Competitive Bidding Rules for Commercial and General Aviation Air-Ground Radiotelephone Service, WT Docket No. 05-42

Application of Verizon Airfone Inc. for Renewal of 800 MHz Air-Ground Radiotelephone License, Call Sign KNKG804, File No. 0001716212

Order on Reconsideration and Report and Order, adopted December 8, 2005.

I remain very optimistic about the prospects of broadband in the sky. As a frequent traveler, I look forward to the day that I can take advantage of time in the air to upload my latest speech, catch up on email, or maybe even do some on-line shopping for one of my children's upcoming birthday. For so many travelers, these new services will increase their productivity and enhance their quality of life.

When we adopted the initial Report and Order in this proceeding almost a year ago, I expressed concern that we had lost a golden opportunity to guarantee true broadband competition in the air by requiring that two providers have access to the larger three megahertz licenses. Instead, we proffered a number of different band plans under the mantra of "let the market decide." Unfortunately, this regulatory punt could result in the incumbent narrowband provider, Verizon Airfone, securing the exclusive three megahertz license, which would allow the company to occupy the entire block of 800 MHz Air to Ground (ATG) spectrum for the next four years. This is enormous power over the future of ATG service if left unchecked.

It is important to put this in context. Notwithstanding the availability of satellite broadband services, we currently have very little, if any, broadband services available on U.S. airplanes because of the size and expense of satellite broadband services. Our decision last year, from which I dissented in part, failed to guarantee a truly competitive broadband market in the ATG service. Moreover, if Airfone wins the exclusive three megahertz license, it will control the four megahertz of 800 MHz ATG spectrum for the foreseeable future. To make matters worse, our only real hope for competition in the broadband market may be the holder of the one megahertz 800 MHz ATG license, and Airfone may have the ability to block that new entrant from entering the market until May 2010.

I am pleased that my colleagues agreed to put in place rigorous reporting requirements on Airfone to help us provide oversight to prevent unnecessary delays in its transition from a four megahertz narrowband system to a one megahertz system. This should give potential bidders some comfort that the Commission will be monitoring the pace of transition, which we will need to do effectively. Also, in the event Airfone, or one of its affiliates, wins the exclusive three megahertz license, we will put in place a second set of reporting requirements to ensure that the company swiftly migrates its narrowband system to a broadband one. The one megahertz licensee may be our only hope for any type of broadband competition. If at all possible, we should try to get the spectrum in the hands of that company as soon as possible. If Airfone has essentially completed its migration from narrowband to broadband, there is no reason to allow it to retain the one megahertz license for the full five years. I will keep a close eye on these reports, and I hope all of my colleagues will as well.

Ultimately, we could have taken a number of more specific actions to support competition in the event Airfone wins the exclusive three megahertz license. But we fail to do so today. For that reason, and for other statements made in this item that rely on the portion of the original Report and Order from which I dissented, I must concur in part to this decision.